
For requests for further information 
Contact:  Cherry Foreman 
Tel:       01270 686463 
E-Mail:    cherry.foreman@cheshireeast.gov.uk  with any apologies 

  
Cabinet Member for Environment 

Agenda 
 

Date: Tuesday, 29th October, 2013 
Time: 10.00 am 
Venue: Committee Suite 1,Westfields, Middlewich Road, Sandbach 

CW11 1HZ 
 
The agenda is divided into 2 parts. Part 1 is taken in the presence of the public and press. Part 2 
items will be considered in the absence of the public and press for the reasons indicated on the 
agenda and at the foot of each report. 
 
PART 1 – MATTERS TO BE CONSIDERED WITH THE PUBLIC AND PRESS PRESENT 
 
1. Apologies for Absence   
 
 
2. Declarations of Interest   
 
 To provide an opportunity for Members and Officers to declare any disclosable pecuniary and 

non-pecuniary interests in any item on the agenda. 
 

 
3. Public Speaking Time/Open Session   
 
 In accordance with Procedure Rules Nos.11 and 35 a period of 10 minutes is allocated for 

members of the public to address the meeting on any matter relating to the work of the body 
in question.  Individual members of the public may speak for up to 5 minutes but the 
Chairman or person presiding will decide how the period of time allocated for public speaking 
will be apportioned where there are a number of speakers. Members of the public are not 
required to give notice to use this facility. However, as a matter of courtesy, a period of 24 
hours’ notice is encouraged. 
 
Members of the public wishing to ask a question at the meeting should provide at least three 
clear working days’ notice in writing and should include the question with that notice. This will 
enable an informed answer to be given. 
 

 
4. Creation of New Public Right of Way in the Parish of Cranage  (Pages 1 - 8) 
 
 To consider a proposal to create a new public right of way in the Parish of Cranage. 

 

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL 
Cabinet Member for the Environment 
 

Date of Report: 29th October 2013 

Report of: Kevin Melling, Head of Environmental Protection and 
Enhancement 

Report to: Councillor Topping, Environment Portfolio Holder  

Subject/Title: Proposed creation of a new public right of way in the Parish 
of Cranage 

 
1.0 Report Summary 
 
1.1 This report presents a proposal to create a new public right of way in the 

Parish of Cranage. 
 
2.0 Recommendation 
 
2.1 That:- 

• consideration be given to the identified risks of the proposal; 
• approval be given to develop the project to create public rights of way 

in the Parish of Cranage; 
• a capital project bid be developed for the delivery of the project; and, 
• the decisions as to the legal processes required be put before the 

Public Rights of Way Committee for decision. 
 
3.0 Reasons for Recommendation 
 
3.1 The Ward Members, Councillors Gilbert and Kolker, have requested the 

proposal to be taken forward.  The chronology of the concept dates back at 
least to 1998. 
 

3.2 Due to the number of separate landholdings within the proposed route, there 
are a number of different legal processes which would need completing, 
some of which may be against the wishes of the landowner and therefore 
may open the Council to adverse publicity, and to the payment of 
compensation to those with an interest in the land. 
 

3.3 The proposal is not currently identified as a project within the Council’s 
capital programme and therefore a budget for costs of compensation, 
physical works and officer time, has not been allocated. 

 
4.0 Wards Affected 
 
4.1 Dane Valley Ward. 
 
5.0 Local Ward Members  
 
5.1 Councillor Gilbert and Councillor Kolker. 
 

Agenda Item 4Page 1



Proposed creation of a new public right of way in the Parish of Cranage 
 
 

2 
 
 
 

6.0 Policy Implications                                                               
 
6.1 The proposal supports the following policies and initiatives of the Cheshire 

East Rights of Way Improvement Plan 2011-2026: 
- Policy H3: Public rights of way and green infrastructure: Protect and 

enhance our public rights of way and green infrastructure and 
endeavour to create new links where beneficial for health, safety or 
access to green spaces.  Initiative: ‘Leisure routes for cyclists, horse 
riders and walkers’; 

- Policy H2: Promotion of active travel and healthy activities: Work in 
partnership to promote walking, cycling and horse riding as active travel 
options and healthy activities.  Initiative ‘Public information on the public 
rights of way network’; 

- Policy S7: Work with stakeholders to improve facilities for walking so 
that it is attractive for shorter journeys; and, 

- Policy C8: Work with stakeholders to improve facilities for cycling so 
that it is attractive for shorter journeys. 

 
6.2 The development of new walking and off-road cycling routes for local 

residents and visitors alike is aligned with the health and wellbeing 
objectives and priorities of the Council as stated in the Business Plan 
2012/2015, in particular Priority 5 Ensure a Sustainable Future and Priority 
7 Drive out the causes of poor health, and the Council’s commitment to the 
Change4Life initiative.  

 
7.0 Financial Implications  
 
7.1 Should the landowner(s) be willing to dedicate their land for the public right 

of way, an agreement under section 25 of the Highways Act 1980 will be 
required.  Under Section 25 of the Highways Act 1980, there is no statutory 
right for compensation by a person with an interest in the land.  However, 
the terms of the agreement are negotiable and section 25 does allow 
compensation to be paid, where agreed between the parties. 

 
7.2 Where the landowner(s) cannot be ascertained or they refuse to agree to 

the dedication of their land as a public right of way, a creation order under 
s26 of the Highways Act 1980 may be required.  Under Section 28 of the 
Highways Act 1980, there is a statutory right for compensation, for loss 
caused by a path creation order, to be claimed by a person with an interest 
in the land.  Compensation may include that for land used, disturbance and 
injurious affection and severance, and may include agents’ fees.  An 
estimate cost for compensation due, should this section of the Act be 
employed, has been given as £40k by the Asset Management Service. 

 
7.3 Under Section 27 of the Highways Act 1980, the highway authority has a 

duty to bring the public right of way into a fit condition for use by the public.  
Approximately 110m of new track would need to be constructed and other 
relatively minor works be undertaken to make the route available to the 
public following the necessary legal processes.  An initial estimate of £20k 

Page 2



Proposed creation of a new public right of way in the Parish of Cranage 
 
 

3 
 
 
 

has been given by the Asset Management Service for these works.  
Cheshire East Highways have estimated the cost of the bridge at £331k, 
including preparatory work, design, construction and installation. 

  
7.4 An anticipated timeframe of resources, including legal order advertising 

costs, but excluding staff time, would be as follows: 
 

 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 

Capital £0 £65k £331k 

 
 

 
7.5 Thereafter, the public right of way created would be maintainable at the 

public expense.  An estimate of annual maintenance costs has been given 
as under £500 by Streetscape.  Periodic maintenance of the surface of the 
path would also be required.  

 
8.0 Legal Implications 
 
8.1 Under Section 25 of the Highways Act 1980, a local authority has a power 

to enter into an agreement with any person having the capacity to dedicate 
a public right of way.   

 
8.2 Under Section 25 of the Highways Act 1980, there is no statutory right for 

objection to the proposal, although the Council’s decision to enter into the 
agreement may be challenged by way of judicial review. 

 
8.3 Under Section 26 of the Highways Act 1980, a local authority has a power 

to make a creation order to create a public right of way where it appears 
that there is a need, having regard to: 
a) the extent to which the path would add to the convenience or 

enjoyment of a substantial section of the public, or to the convenience 
of persons resident in the area; and, 

b) the effect which the creation of the path or way would have on the 
rights of persons with an interest in the land. 

 
8.4 Under Section 26 of the Highways Act 1980, there is a statutory right for 

objection to the proposal, with objected orders being referred to the 
Secretary of State for determination. 

 
8.5 The use of Section 26 of the Highways Act 1980 against the landowner’s 

wishes, may create future enforcement issues should the landowner 
choose to continue to demonstrate their objection to the proposal. 

 
8.6  Where an order is made pursuant to Section 26 of the Highways Act 1980, 

the landowners have a statutory right to compensation.   
 
 

Page 3



Proposed creation of a new public right of way in the Parish of Cranage 
 
 

4 
 
 
 

9.0 Risk Management  
 
9.1 The identified risks to the Council are outlined in the sections of this report 

relating to financial and legal implications, but also include risk to reputation 
through use of legal powers against the wishes of a landowner, should 
Section 26 of the Highways Act 1980 be employed. 

 
10.0 Background and Options 
 
10.1 For a number of years, Cheshire East Council, Holmes Chapel Parish 

Council and Cranage Parish Council have been discussing means to 
improve access between the two communities.  The road connecting the 
two communities is the A50, a route which has been designated as a 
hazardous route for school journeys due to the non-continuous pavement 
necessitating two crossings of the road. 

 
10.2 A possible off-road route via the Cranage playing fields, over the River 

Dane, and then on to Holmes Chapel via the Dane Meadow public open 
space was identified. 

 
10.3 The Asset Management Service, in partnership with the Holmes Chapel 

Partnership, Parish Council and other Borough Council departments, is 
leading on a project to improve access on the Holmes Chapel side of the 
river.  This work involves the creation of public rights of way within Borough 
Council owned public open space.  

 
10.4 One of these public rights of way is being created as a bridleway in order 

that it can be used by walkers, cyclists and horse riders.  This is in 
recognition of the aspiration to create an off-road route for pedestrians and 
cyclists linking Holmes Chapel and Cranage via a bridge over the River 
Dane.   

 
10.5 The Plan attached indicates the proposed alignment of the off-road, non-

motorised route between the two communities.  Those routes shown in blue 
on the plan are in the process of being created through a Deed of 
Dedication under the Local Government Act 2000.   

 
10.6 The route on the northern, Cranage, side of the river is colour-coded into 

sections according to landownership. 
 
10.7 The section of the proposed route shown in green on the plan 

(approximately 15m) is understood to be owned by a landowner who is 
prepared to support the project; an agreement for option over freehold 
property was drafted in 2007 between the landowner and Cranage Parish 
Council.  The purchase price was given as £6,000, and the option period as 
two years from the date of the agreement.  Whilst this period has now 
expired, it is understood that the landowner may still be willing to support the 
project.  This could take the form of one of the following options, which are 
achievable through legal agreement and possible exchange of monies: 

Page 4



Proposed creation of a new public right of way in the Parish of Cranage 
 
 

5 
 
 
 

a)  Cranage Parish Council purchasing the freehold of the necessary strip of 
land, and dedicating a public right of way (through one of a number of 
legal process options); or, 

b)  the existing landowner dedicating a public right of way under Section 25 
of the Highways Act 1980, for which compensation may be offered. 

 
10.8 The section of the proposed route shown in orange (approximately 275m) is 

on land for which the landownership is currently unknown (the extent of the 
CEBC asset ownership does not include the track already in existence along 
this route).  The Asset Management Service is currently investigating 
sources of information to identify the landowner.  This presents a number of 
scenarios: 
a) the landowner is identified and is willing to dedicate a public right of way 

under Section 25 of the Highways Act 1980, for which compensation 
may be offered; 

b) the landowner is identified and is not willing to dedicate a public right of 
way under Section 25 of the Highways Act 1980, and therefore the 
option to use a creation order under Section 26 of the Highways Act is 
available, for which compensation may be claimed by those with an 
interest in the land; 

c) the landowner cannot be identified and therefore the option to use a 
creation order under Section 26 of the Highways Act is available, for 
which compensation may be claimed by those with an interest in the 
land; or, 

d) an application for a Definitive Map Modification Order is submitted, 
assessed, prioritised and determined, to ‘claim’ a public right of way on 
the land through usage [note that i. applications are prioritised before 
investigation according to an agreed policy; ii. the likelihood of this 
process resulting in the addition of a public right of way to the Definitive 
Map would depend on the strength of the user evidence submitted; and, 
iii. the status of any public right of way arising from such a process 
would again depend on the evidence submitted, and may not therefore 
result in a route that may be used by pedestrians, cyclists and horse 
riders, as is desired under the proposed project].  No costs or 
compensation are payable through this process. 

 
10.9 The section of the proposed route shown in red on the plan (approximately 

100m) is on land in the ownership of a party who, it is understood, are not in 
support of the proposal.  The Council’s Asset Management Service has 
recently written to the landowner seeking their engagement in the project, 
but this has not received a favourable response.  It is understood that 
Cranage Parish Council have also approached the landowner in the past, 
again to no avail.  It therefore appears that the option available in this 
instance is: 
a)  to use a creation order under Section 26 of the Highways Act, for which 

compensation may be claimed by those with an interest in the land. 
 
10.10 The decision to create a public right of way under any of the above legal 

procedures would be taken by the Public Rights of Way Committee, in line 

Page 5



Proposed creation of a new public right of way in the Parish of Cranage 
 
 

6 
 
 
 

with the Constitution of the Council.   
 
10.11 Colleagues in the Asset Management Service, Countryside Development, 

Parks Development and Streetscape area aware of the proposal. 
 
10.12 Were public rights of way created on the Cranage side of the river, the 

remaining missing link on the proposed off-road route would be a bridge 
over the river to link the two sections.  This would be a large (approximately 
25-30m span) bridge and therefore require considerable investment.  The 
Ward Members suggested that this funding could be sourced, at least partly, 
through external grant funding and Parish Council contributions. 

 
Access to Information 
 

Name:  Genni Butler 
Designation:  Countryside Access Development Officer 
Tel No:  01270 686059 
Email:  genni.butler@cheshireeast.gov.uk 
 

Page 6



Riv
er D

ane

Cranage Mill

ROAD

Sewage Disposal Works

Jubilee Court

OldPlaying Field

Bridge

Cotton Wood

Glebe Farm

B 53
08

The Cedars

Higher House

Playing Field

375500

375500

36
75
00

36
75
00

36
80
00

36
80
00

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013. Ordnance Survey 100049045.
±
1:5,000

Holmes Chapel to Cranage
Proposed non-motorised route

Plan No. This is a working copy of the definitive map
and should not be used for legal purposes15.05.2013

Legend

A50

Holmes Chapel

Cranage

Dane Meadow
Public Open Space

Playing fields

CEBC Land Ownership

PROW in process
of being created

Proposed route for which land-
owner appears not to be supportive

Proposed route for which land-
owner is not yet identified

Proposed route for which land-
owner appears to be supportive

Page 7



Page 8

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Creation of New Public Right of Way in the Parish of Cranage
	Cranage PROW Creation Proposal Plan


